

Characterization of the Potato Late Blight Pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* in Tunisia

Kalthoum Harbaoui^{1*} • Theo van der Lee² • Walid Hamada¹

¹ Genetic and Plant Breeding, Institute National Agronomic of Tunisia, 1082, Tunis, Tunisia
² Plant Research International B.V., Biointeraction and Plant Health, Wageningen University, The Netherlands

Corresponding author: * harbaoui_kalthoum@yahoo.fr

ABSTRACT

This mini-review focus on summarizing different phenotypic and genotypic analysis recorded on *Phytophthora infestans* population collected from the Northern area of Tunisia. Here, we demonstrated that mating type distribution plays a primordial role in genetic structure of the pathogen between sampling regions. Also, a probably strong correlation between mating type and metalaxyl resistance could be mentioned. Next to that, we found that the aggressiveness and the virulence patterns were highly effective parameters to outline phenotypic diversity in Tunisian population that showed specific characteristics comparing with Algeria and others countries in the world. Consistently, genotypic diversity based on SSR markers seems to be a very interesting key in the genetic understanding of the pathogen. In fact, we found that *P. infestans* populations in Tunisia were divided to two major phylogenic groups: a clonal lineage group shared between all sampling regions and a diverse group detected in potato population and specific to two sub-regions. Thus, we could conclude that genotypic diversity confirmed phenotypic diversity and both analysis leaded us to conclude that population structure of *P. infestans* in Tunisia is very specific either in North African area or all over the world.

Keywords: genotypic diversity, phenotypic diversity, Phytophthora infestans, structure, Tunisia

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
GENETIC STRUCTURE OF P. INFESTANS IN TUNISIA	
Sexual cycle contribution in genetic structure of the <i>P. infestans</i> populations in Tunisia	
Occurrence of metalaxyl resistance and probable correlation with A2 mating type	
Virulence/Avirulence and aggressiveness on potato:	
Two major parameters to consider for repairing <i>P. infestans</i> populations structure	
GENOTYPIC DIVERSITY OF P. INFESTANS POPULATION IN TUNISIA	
Mitochondrial haplotypes showed low diversity	
Microsatellites showed high genetic diversity and inform well on <i>P. infestans</i> population structure	
SPECIFICITY OF GENETIC STRUCTURE OF P. INFESTANS POPULATION IN TUNISIA	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Late blight, caused by the oomycete *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont.) de Bary, is one of the most destructive diseases of cultivated potato and tomato worldwide (Goodwin et al. 1998; Cooke et al. 2011). Originating from South America, this pathogen was introduced firstly into Europe in the 1840s via infected seed potatoes (Fry et al. 1993) and leaded to the great potato famine in Ireland in 1845-1850 (Bourke 1964). In 1941, *P. infestans* was introduced to Africa on imported potato seeds from the United Kingdom in order to feed allied troops during World War II (Cox and Large 1960). Since that, late blight appeared as a continuous and sustainable problem in potato and tomato fields. In Tunisia, damages fluctuated from year to year depending on weather conditions and could attend high levels at rainy years. Where potato is cultivated during three seasons over a period of ten months in the year, late blight epidemics can result in complete crop loss. On tomato, this pathogen can damage either greenhouses crop or field crop in the most producing regions. The Mediterranean climate is highly conducive to the late blight epidemics from November to

May in potato crops and throughout the year in tomato crops. Similar to what is happening in Europe (Haverkort 2008), USA (Miller et al. 1997; Reis et al. 2005) and Asia (Koh et al. 1994; Guo et al. 2009), potato late blight epidemics in Tunisia have become more difficult to control thanks to i) the probable changes occurring in *P. infestans* population structure all over the world (Goodwin et *al.* 1998; Runno-Paurson *et al.* 2009; Corbière *et al.* 2010), ii) the lack of preventive application and the excessive use of phenylamide fungicides (Harbaoui et al. 2010), iii) the absence of crop rotation and the incorrect irrigation systems adopted in fields and iv) the widespread use of the susceptible cultivar 'Spunta' in more than 90% of potato acreage in Tunisia. However, information on the pathogen population structure is a prerequisite for understanding the epidemiology of the disease and for selecting durable disease resistance sources for crop breeding. Therefore, we intended to further characterize Tunisian P. infestans isolates (165 individuals) collected from potato and tomato during 2006 to 2008. Three crop regions in Tunisia were considered in this survey. Within these areas, Bizerte is considered as the wide Northern region that potato is cultivated

in humid conditions. The North-Eastern area (Nabeul) is considered as the cradle of potato crop and the wide area of tomato early season crop. The North-Western area is also an important site in potato culture covered by mixed weathers oscillate between sub-humid to semi-arid climate. In this overview, we will summarize the different genetic and genotypic analysis recorded on a *P. infestans* population collected from potato and tomato crop regions at North of Tunisia during the period between 2006 and 2008.

GENETIC STRUCTURE OF *P. INFESTANS* IN TUNISIA

Sexual cycle contribution in genetic structure of the *P. infestans* populations in Tunisia

The mating type was first identified to 165 P. infestans isolates using CAPS (Cleaved Amplified Polymorphism Sequence) technique. The in vitro assay technique was used later in order to confirm molecular results. Of this total number of isolates, 141 isolates (85%) were determined as A1 mating type and 24 isolates (15%) were identified as A2 mating type. Known as the index of the genetic changes of P. infestans population's structure (Goodwin and Drenth 1997; Goodwin 1998; Beninal et al. 2009), the A2 mating type was identified in two crop regions: the North and the North-East areas but not in the North-West. Although the presence of both mating types that raises the possibility of sexual reproduction and the generation of oospores, we suggest that it could be rare or absent in some sub-regions from where no A2 isolates were detected. Furthermore, all tomato isolates (29) analyzed in this study were A1 mating type. The most likely explanation may be that genetic changes in potato were not the same in tomato due to some kind of host preference. These findings were previously investigated and showed that isolates collected from tomato had preference for tomato above potato (Harbaoui and Hamada 2008).

Occurrence of metalaxyl resistance and probable correlation with A2 mating type

Metalaxyl resistance was performed on a representative population of 65 P. infestans isolates via in vitro assays using pea agar medium amended by metalaxyl fungicide. The classification of isolates was performed based on the percentage of mycelium growth at 100 ppm. Consequently, 58% of tested isolates were classified as metalaxyl resistant and the reminder (42%) is metalaxyl sensitive. In this tested set, we found that 40 isolates were collected from protected areas either from experimental fields or from farms and 25 isolates were collected from unprotected crops. The highest number (70%) of resistant isolates was determined in Bizerte area and the highest percentage (60%) of sensitive isolates was detected in North-West area. Moreover, while potato population showed high percentage (67%) of resistant isolates, tomato population presented high level (69%) of sensitive isolates. In addition, this study indicated that all A2 mating type isolates were metalaxyl resistant. This could peel a probable correlation between the mating type and the metalaxyl resistance (Harbaoui et al. 2010) as demonstrated firstly by Goodwin in 1998. Consequently, metalaxyl resistance considered as a parameter to diagnose and repair different pathotypes from different regions plays an important role in the understanding of genetic structure of P. infestans populations.

Virulence/Avirulence and aggressiveness on potato: Two major parameters to consider for repairing *P. infestans* populations structure

Virulence diversity was investigated on 31 isolates selected from a Tunisian population of *P. infestans* sampled from potato and tomato plants collected from different crop regions. Samplings were carried out from different hosts, organs, regions and seasons during 2006, 2007 and 2008. This study was performed via bioassays technique using a differential set of 11 Solanum demissum carrying each one a known R gene. Consequently, virulence patterns of tested isolates showed high diversity and 21 races were deduced (Harbaoui et al. 2011). In all sampling regions, virulence patterns of P. infestans isolates did not present a chronologic trend variation. To investigate the importance of different R genes in Tunisia, we deduced from the virulence bioassay the proportion of each R gene presented in the Rdifferentials that withstood tested isolates. Therefore, the most effective R genes in the differential set are R5, R9 and R8. Although R10 and R11 were withstood at almost all tested isolates, they were overcome by highly complex races. Hence, nine R differentials were resistant to more than 50% of the tested isolates and only R1 and R7 differentials were relatively overcome by most of them (Harbaoui et al. 2011). Overall, virulence diversity outlines the behaviour of the pathogen in the field and lead to more understanding of biologic structure of the pathogen.

Elsewhere, aggressiveness was performed with bioassay technique on 36 isolates that inoculated a susceptible cultivar 'Bintje'. Highly aggressive isolates predominated during years and represented 56% from tested isolates. Moderately and weakly aggressive isolates represented equal proportions of 22%. Highly aggressive isolates predominated within all Tunisian sub-populations, and their fraction increased from 40, 58 to 64% in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. In addition, aggressiveness profiles were variable between potato and tomato isolates as the former presented more aggressive profiles on 'Bintje' cultivar than the latter (unpublished data). This could lead to the assumption that *P. infestans* population in Tunisia undergoes mutations in potato crops but not in tomato. Indeed, these changes could be due to the climate conditions conducive to the selection pressure depending on hosts.

GENOTYPIC DIVERSITY OF *P. INFESTANS* POPULATION IN TUNISIA

Mitochondrial haplotypes showed low diversity

Haplotyping were computed based on RFLP-PCR technique using primers 2 and 4 adopted by Griffith and Shaw (1998). Consequently, about 98% of the isolates (n=161) had mitochondrial haplotype Ia, whereas only 2% (n=4) had mitochondrial haplotype IIa. These four isolates were collected from the same tomato greenhouse from Takelsa, the largest tomato sampling sub-region in the North-East area. This conclusion could inform that although mitochondrial genome could not be highly informative about the genetic diversity of *P. infestans*, haplotyping analysis showed that probably potato and tomato didn't host the same population of the pathogen (unpublished data).

Microsatellites showed high genetic diversity and inform well on *P. infestans* population structure

SSR markers are classified as ideal markers for rigorous genetic analysis since they are robust, flexible, reproducible, and offer the greatest potential to study the genetic diversity of P. infestans (Knapova and Gisi 2002; Cooke and Lees 2004, Lees et al. 2006; Guo et al. 2009). In order to study the genetic structure of P. infestans population in Tunisia, 12 SSR markers were computed on 126 from 165 isolates using a multiplex PCR technique and analysed by automatic scoring using GeneMapper4.0 software (Applied Biosystems, The Netherlands). Accordingly, the 12 markers seemed to be highly informative and showed high gene diversity values depending on any classification (sampling regions, mating type, host and season). Also, they yielded 49 alleles, within which many private alleles were detected in most regions, mating type, host or season sub-populations (unpublished data). Furthermore, analysing the multilocus genotypes showed that genotypic diversity is highly variable

between considered sub-populations. However, genetic differentiation between sub-populations based on sampling regions, mating types, hosts and seasons showed low values (13%). In addition, the gene flux index computed on different sub-populations was relatively high and generally attended 2 migrants between combined populations. These two last analyses indicated the evidence of migration due to the relative quite broad geographic distances between sampling regions in Tunisia. Elsewhere, phylogenic analysis computed on 130 isolates showed a clear clustering and two phylogenic groups were detected. The first group was deduced as a clonal lineage shared by all sampling regions and contains only A1 mating type isolates and Ia haplotype. Also, all tomato isolates that had Ia haplotype were clustered in this group. The second cluster was described as a highly diverse group which comprises A1 and A2 isolates. In this second group, we identified more mtDNA haplotypes (Ia and IIa). Only IIa haplotype tomato isolates were found in the diverse group. Consistently, almost all potato isolates collected from Korba (North-East) and several isolates from Bizerte (North) were clustered in that highly diverse group. Probably the old generation (clonal lineage group) still evolved by asexual recombination and slightly undergoes mutations in Takelsa and North-West sub-regions. But, the new generation (diverse group) that presented more complex genetic structure is resulted from the occurrence of sexual cycle in both two sub-regions: Korba and Bizerte. This deduction was confirmed by analysing the clonal fraction explained by Zhan et al. (2003) as the proportion of genotypes derived from asexual recombination. This parameter showed high level of clonality in both first regions and low level of clonality in both last regions (unpublished data).

SPECIFICITY OF GENETIC STRUCTURE OF P. INFESTANS POPULATION IN TUNISIA

P. infestans population in Tunisia seems to be very characteristic comparing either with European, American and Asian populations or with neighbour countries such as Morocco (Sedegui et al. 2000; Hammi 2003) and Algeria (Corbière et al. 2010). Indeed, mating type distribution which is in favour to A1 seems to be an important index of genetic changes in P. infestans structure. The fact that all A2 isolates tested for metalaxyl were resistant and most of them (33 from 36) were highly aggressive on sensitive cultivar 'Bintje' could lead to the assumption that genetic changes in P. infestans populations in Tunisia as well as in Europe (Goodwin et al. 1998; Lebreton et al. 1998; Sliwka et al. 2006; Runno-Paurson et al. 2009), Asia (Guo et al. 2009); and Africa (Corbière et al. 2010) is due to the appearance of new genotypes resulted from sexual recombination. This assumption was strongly confirmed by genetic diversity using SSR markers. In fact, all A2 isolates was phylogenetically clustered in one highly diverse group and no one belonged to the clonal population (unpublished data). In addition, the co-existence of A1 and A2 was proved in Bizerte (North) and Korba (North-East) but not in Takelsa (tomato region) and North-West areas. These data suggest that *P. infestans* sub-populations carry out different genetic structures in each sub-region depending on selection pressure. Weather conditions and hosts played an important role to pomp specific strains in each region. Especially, all isolates from Korba were clustered in the genetic diverse group except tomato isolates that were clustered in the clonal group. Also, we found that all tomato isolates from Takelsa belonged to clonal population except the only one potato isolate that belonged to the diverse group. Elsewhere, virulence diversity analysis demonstrated that the most effective R genes to be deployed would be R5, R8 and R9, for which virulent isolates were found. Also the differentials R10 and R11 were effective against most tested isolates, and virulence was only detected in a few, highly complex isolates. In addition, the differentials R2, R3, R4, and R6 were resistant, but the differentials R1 and R7 were infected

by more than 50% of tested isolates. These results could be informative for breeding programs that can focus introgressing highly effective R genes such as R5, R8 and R9. Also substitution of the highly susceptible potato cv. 'Spunta', which is cultivated at more than 90% from total potato acreage in Tunisia, by other candidate cultivars that contain identified effective R genes, could reduce the disease on potato. Altogether, despite the presence of complex pathotypes in two interesting potato crop regions, the population detected in the other regions and in tomato crops still not highly complex. Compared with the situation in Europe and the New World, or even in close countries such as Algeria, the genetic changes in Tunisia are still comforting thanks to the absence of new strains such as Blue 13 strains which were recently detected in Europe (Cooke et al. 2010; Sophien Kamoun, pers. comm.) and probably identified in Algeria (Corbière et al. 2010). Although the genetic diversity and the race complexity detected in Tunisian population, the race structures (virulence diversity) are still less complex than in Mexico 20 years ago (Rivera-Pena 1990). Therefore, as Tunisian isolates are still less complex pathotypes than Algerian and Moroccan, we suggest following more strict monitoring programs either chemicals spray or irrigation means in order to avoid dispersion or appearance of more resistant genotypes in regions undergoing genetic changes. In addition, we should avoid internal seeds exchange between provinces in order to limit the spread of A2 strains in new regions. Finally, this survey could be highly useful in the future because it will aid management decision on late blight control in Tunisia considered as an important North African area.

REFERENCES

- Beninal L, Corbière R, Kedad A, Andrivon D, Bouznad Z (2009) A2 mating type, metalaxyl resistance and complex virulence profiles: common features in some *Phytophthora infestans* isolates from Algeria. In: *Proceedings of 11th Workshop on Euroblight*, 28-31 October, 2008, Hamar, Norway, *PPO-special Report no. 13*, pp 237-241
- Bourke PMA (1964) Emergence of potato blight, 1843–46. *Nature* 203, 805-808
- Cooke LR, Schepers HTAM, Hermansen A, Bain RA, Bradshaw NJ, Ritchie F, Shaw DS, Evenhuis A, Kessel GJT, Wander JGN, Andersson B, Hansen JG, Hannukkala A, Nærstad R, Nielsen B J (2011) Epidemiology and integrated control of potato late blight in Europe. *Potato Research* 54, 183-222
- Cooke DEL, Lees AK (2004) Markers, old and new, for examining Phytophthora infestans diversity. Plant Pathology 53, 692-704
- **Corbière R, Rekad FZ, Galfout A, Andrivon D, Bouznad Z** (2010) Phenotypic and genotypic characteristics of Algerian isolates of *Phytophthora infestans*. In: *Proceedings of* 12th Workshop on Euroblight, 3-6 May, 2010, Arras, France, *PPO-special report no.* 14, pp 133-146
- **Cox AE, Large EC** (1960) Potato blight epidemics throughout the world. In: *Agriculture Handbook N° 174*, United States Department of Agriculture, Washington DC, 230 pp
- Fry W (2008) Phytophthora infestans: The plant (and R gene) destroyer. Molecular Plant Pathology 9, 385-402
- Fry WE, Goodwin SB, Dyer AT, Matuszak JM, Drenth A, Tooley PW, Sujkowski LS, Koh YJ, Cohen BA, Spielman LJ, Deahl KL, Inglis DA, Sandlan KP (1993) Historical and recent migrations of *Phytophthora infestans*: Chronology, pathways, and implications. *Plant Disease* 77, 653-661
- Goodwin SB, Drenth A (1997) Origin of the A2 mating type of *Phytophthora* infestans outside Mexico. *Phytopathology* 87, 992-999
- Goodwin SB, Smart CD, Sandrock RW, Deahl KL, Punja ZK, Fry WE (1998) Genetic change within populations of *Phytophthora infestans* in the United States and Canada during 1994 to 1996: Role of migration and recombination. *Phytopathology* **88**, 939-949
- Griffith GW, Shaw DS (1998) Polymorphisms in *Phytophthora infestans*: Four mitochondrial haplotypes are detected after PCR amplification of DNA from pure cultures or from host lesions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 64, 4007-4014
- Guo J, van der Lee TAJ, Qu DY, Yao YQ, Gong XF, Liang DL, Xie KY, Wang XW, Govers F (2009) *Phytophthora infestans* isolates from Northern China show high virulence diversity but low genotypic diversity. *Plant Biology* **11**, 57-67
- Hammi A (2003) Charactérisation de populations de *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont) de Bary dans la région de Saïs. Thèse, Université Sidi Mohamed Benabdellah, Fès, Morocco, 251 pp
- Harbaoui K, Harrabi M, Vleeshouwers V, Hamada W (2011) Virulence pat-

terns of *Phytophthora infestans* isolates using R differential set of *Solanum demissum*: A useful tool to identify pathogen races in Tunisia. *Tunisian Journal of Plant Protection* 6 (1), 1-10

- Harbaoui K, Jendoubi W, Ben Moussa A, Hamada W (2010) Etude des corrélations entre le type sexué et la résistance au métalaxyl chez une population tunisienne de *Phytophthora infestans*. In : IRESA, 17^{èmes} journées Nationales sur les Résultats de la Recherche Agronomique, Vétérinaire et Halieutique, 16-17 December, 2010, Nabeul, Tunisie, pp 105-113
- Harbaoui K, Hamada W (2008) Exploring host-specificity of *Phytophthora* infestans using expression pattern of *epic1* gene. *Biologia Tunisia* 5, 90-91
- Haverkort AJ (2008) The canon of potato science: Potato ontology. Potato Research 50, 399-402
- Knapova G, Gisi U (2002) Phenotypic and genotypic structure of *Phytophthora* infestans populations on potato and tomato in France and Switzerland. *Plant Pathology* 51, 641-653
- Koh YJ, Goodwin SB, Dyer AT, Cohen BA, Ogoshi A, Sato N, Fry WE (1994) Migrations and displacements of *Phytophthora infestans* populations in East Asian countries. *Phytopathology* 84, 922-927
- Lebreton L, Laurent C, Andrivon D (1998) Evolution of *Phytophthora infestans* populations in the two most important potato production areas of France during 1992-1996. *Plant Pathology* 47, 427-439
- Lees AK, Wattier R, Shaw DS, Sullivan L, Williams NA, Cooke DEL (2006) Novel microsatellite markers for the analysis of *Phytophthora infestans* populations. *Plant Pathology* 55, 311-319

Miller JS, Hamm PB, Johnson DA (1997) Characterization of the *Phytoph*thora infestans population in the Columbia Basin of Oregon and Washington from 1992 to 1995. *Phytopathology* 87, 656-660

- Reis A, Ribeiro FHS, Maffia LA, Mizubuti ESG (2005) Sensitivity of Brazilian isolates of *Phytophthora infestans* to commonly used fungicides in tomato and potato crops. *Plant Disease* **89**, 1279-1284
- Rivera-Pena A (1990) Wild tuber-bearing species of *Solanum* and incidence of *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont) de Bary on the Western slopes of the Volcano Nevado de Toluca. 3. Physiological races of *Phytophthora infestans*. *Potato Research* 33, 349-355
- Runno-Paurson E, Fry WE, Myers KL, Koppel M, Mänd M (2009) Characterization of *Phytophthora infestans* isolates collected from potato in Estonia during 2002-2004. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 124, 565-575
- Sliwka J, Sobkowiak S, Lebecka R, Avendaño-Córcoles J, Zimnoch-Guzowska E (2006) Mating type, virulence, aggressiveness and metalaxyl resistance of isolates of *Phytophthora infestans* in Poland. *Potato Research* 49, 155-166
- Sedegui M, Carroll RB, Morchart AL, Evans TA (2000) Genetic structure of Phytophthora infestans population in Morocco. Plant Disease 84, 173-175
- Zhan J, Pettway R E, McDonald BA (2003) The global genetic structure of the wheat pathogen *Mycosphaerella graminicola* is characterized by high nuclear diversity, low mitochondrial diversity, regular recombination, and gene flow. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 38, 286-297